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          1  COMMITTEE ON TRANSPORTATION

          2                 CHAIRPERSON LIU: Good morning.

          3  Welcome to today's hearing of the City Council's

          4  Committee on Transportation.  My name is John Liu. I

          5  have the privilege of chairing this Committee. We've

          6  convened this morning for the purpose of hearing two

          7  bills to improve safety for commercial bicycle

          8  riders.  Proposed Intro 24A would require businesses

          9  that use bicycles to provide helmets and safety

         10  equipment to the bicycle operators.  Proposed Intro

         11  58A would require businesses that use bicycles to

         12  post signs at the workplace detailing bicycle safety

         13  procedures and the responsibilities of businesses

         14  that use bicycles.  These are amended versions that

         15  have technical changes and changes to organize them

         16  better and easier to read.  There are no substantive

         17  changes to the bills as compared to the original

         18  drafts.

         19                 Bicycle messengers and restaurant

         20  bicycle delivery people are visible presences

         21  throughout New York City.  These commercial

         22  bicyclists are integral to the operation of many

         23  businesses in New York City, and make it convenient

         24  for New Yorkers to get food and other goods without

         25  leaving the warmth of their homes and offices.
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          2  Working as a commercial bicyclist can be a hard job,

          3  especially in the cold weather, such as today.  It

          4  can also be a dangerous occupation, especially if

          5  the bicyclist is not using proper safety gear.

          6  Proposed Intro 24A would make it a little safer to

          7  be a commercial bicyclist by requiring that the

          8  businesses that benefit from the work of the

          9  bicyclist provide safety equipment.  There are City

         10  and State laws governing the operation of commercial

         11  bicycles, and requiring all bicycles to have certain

         12  safety gear.  Unfortunately, many commercial

         13  bicyclists, as well as businesses, are unaware of

         14  the protection that these laws provide. Proposed

         15  Intro 58A would help to inform commercial

         16  bicyclists, and the businesses that use them, of the

         17  laws governing the operation of the bicycles.

         18                 I would now like to pass the floor to

         19  Council Member Gale Brewer to make an opening

         20  statement on her bill, Proposed Intro 58.

         21                 COUNCIL MEMBER BREWER: First I want

         22  to thank Chair Liu and his wonderful staff for

         23  bringing this to the City Council today for a

         24  hearing.  The reason that we have proposed 58A is

         25  because, just like anybody knows, information is
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          2  power, and I think that having gone with members of

          3  the 20 precinct and 24 precinct, as well as members

          4  of the community representing Transportation

          5  Alternatives, we have gone to some of the

          6  restaurants, working with the business improvement

          7  district, and just put up temporary posters that

          8  were made for the purpose, and I think just as

          9  posters in restaurants talk issues regarding

         10  cleanliness, issues regarding knowing the Heimlich

         11  method so that people, God forbid, should become

         12  ill, struggling with some kind of swallowing, there

         13  is a procedure in order to provide safety and good

         14  health.  That's what we are promoting today is the

         15  notion that there's information.  The messenger job,

         16  particularly on a cold night like Super Bowl, is an

         17  extremely challenging job.  We've got a lot of

         18  outside forces working against you in terms of

         19  traffic and just street life, and I think that we

         20  all know how difficult that is.  So, the concept

         21  behind this is to have a language appropriate, place

         22  appropriate, information appropriate poster that

         23  would indicate the rules of the road for those who

         24  are bicycling in this very difficult job.  Thank you

         25  very much Mr. Chairman.
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          2                 CHAIRPERSON LIU: Thank you Council

          3  Member Brewer, and now an opening statement from

          4  Council Member Alan Gerson the sponsor of Intro 24.

          5                 COUNCIL MEMBER GERSON: Thank you Mr.

          6  Chair.  Good morning, good morning and let me say

          7  congratulations Commissioner. I wish you, as always,

          8  all the best.  I just want to say Mr. Chair first of

          9  all thank you very much, as always, for your

         10  brilliant and outstanding leadership.  As chair of

         11  this very important Committee, I support both

         12  Intro's before us today.  I'll say ditto to the

         13  remarks just made by my esteemed colleague Council

         14  Member Brewer, and thank her for putting forward

         15  that very piece of legislation, and I also want to

         16  urge all of us to support Proposed Intro 24A. This

         17  Intro requiring that employers who utilize bicycles

         18  for delivery of merchandise, of food, of messages

         19  assure that the bicycle vehicles, and bicycles are

         20  vehicles in the truest sense of the word when they

         21  are used, especially, for these commercial purposes,

         22  that these bicycles and those that drive these

         23  bicycles are equipped with basic safety equipment,

         24  helmets, and working brakes, and other essentials.

         25  This, unfortunately, to often, is not the case, and
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          2  we will hear testimony later in this hearing of

          3  tragedies which could have been averted, lives which

          4  could have been saved, if only a bicycle messenger

          5  or delivery person was wearing a helmet, had been

          6  provided a helmet, or had a bicycle with proper

          7  brakes.  Bicycles and there use for delivery of, as

          8  I said, messages, of merchandise, of food, have

          9  become a critical part of our City's transportation

         10  infra- structure, and we owe it to the people who

         11  navigate that infra- structure to make ensure that

         12  they are provided with this basic safety equipment.

         13  So I look forward to this hearing and I look forward

         14  to the adoption of both of these important Intro's.

         15  Thank you very much Mr. Chair.

         16                 CHAIRPERSON LIU: Thank you very much.

         17    I think we all understand how many bicycles that

         18  we see on City streets, and bicycles that are used

         19  in the course of conducting business, and, in fact,

         20  one could argue, and I'm sure that we will hear that

         21  argument, that workers who use the bicycle on behalf

         22  of the businesses that they work for are doing so in

         23  an environment where the workplace itself is

         24  extended to being on that bicycle, and hence the

         25  employer does bare some responsibility in providing
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          2  some basic safety equipment.  All to often, we see

          3  bicycle workers not having the helmets that really

          4  should be worn at all times, especially when they

          5  are on those bicycles many hours of the day. So that

          6  is the impetus behind holding this hearing and

          7  considering both Council Member Gerson's bill and

          8  Council Member Gale Brewer's bill.

          9                 We are joined by a member of the

         10  Transportation Committee, Council Member Diana Reyna

         11  from Brooklyn, and at this point we are pleased to

         12  see that Commissioner Iris Weinshall has joined us

         13  along with her terrific team as well as an official

         14  Inspector Murtagh of the NYPD.  Good morning

         15  Commissioner and welcome.

         16                 COMMISSIONER WEINSHALL: Good morning

         17  Mr. Chairman. I am Iris Weinshall, Commissioner of

         18  the New York City Department of Transportation, and

         19  with me here today is David Woloch, DOT's Deputy

         20  Commissioner for External Affairs, and Deputy

         21  Inspector James Murtagh of the New York City Police

         22  Department.  Thanks for inviting us here today to

         23  testify on Intro's 24 and 58 relating to bicycle

         24  safety.

         25                 Before I comment on these bills, I
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          2  want to emphasize DOT's commitment to promoting

          3  bicycle safety and the tremendous progress we have

          4  made this past year.  Last September, we released a

          5  report, in collaboration with the City's Health,

          6  Police and Parks Departments, describing the factors

          7  that contributed to the deaths and serious injuries

          8  of bicyclists over the past decade.  The report,

          9  entitled Bicyclist Fatalities and Serious Injuries

         10  in New York City 1996- 2005, was touted by one

         11  bicycle advocacy group as the most thorough analysis

         12  of its kind ever undertaken in the United States.

         13  And, by the way, Mr. Chairman, if your Committee

         14  does not already have copies, or individual members

         15  would like them, our office would be happy to send

         16  them out.  I believe it's up on the web as well so

         17  you can print it out from there, and we brought

         18  copies with us.  We'll hand them out after this.

         19                 CHAIRPERSON LIU: We'll get a copy.

         20                 COMMISSIONER WEINSHALL: Okay.  In

         21  conjunction with the release of this report, we

         22  announced a commitment to build 200 miles of new on-

         23  street bicycle facilities over the next three years.

         24    These facilities, which will include vehicle free

         25  bike paths, on- street striped lanes and signed
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          2  routes, will compose the backbone of the City's

          3  planned bicycle network.  DOT will install 40 miles

          4  in FY 2007, 70 miles in FY 2008 and 90 miles in FY

          5  2009. To accomplish this, DOT has been hiring

          6  additional staff and committing more funding to its

          7  Bicycle and Highway Design divisions.  We have

          8  already completed 28 miles of new bike lanes this

          9  fiscal year.  In addition, we have installed more

         10  than a mile of shared lane signs, more than 250

         11  bicycle racks and will begin a pilot program for

         12  green colored lanes later this Spring.

         13                 We also recognize the need to

         14  increase motorist and cyclist awareness, and this

         15  year DOT intends to unveil a public outreach

         16  campaign to highlight their mutual responsibility to

         17  share our City's streets.  This campaign is being

         18  developed in partnership with the Department of

         19  Health, the Taxi and Limousine Commission, NYC

         20  Marketing, the Public Advocate's Office, the

         21  American Automobile Association of NY,

         22  Transportation Alternatives, and the Five Borough

         23  Bike Club, and we are excited to see its impact on

         24  motorist and cyclist behavior in our City.

         25                 Now that I have outlined some of the
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          2  critical steps we're taking to improve bicycling in

          3  New York, let me turn to the bills.  Both Intro 24

          4  and 58 address safety concerns that relate to

          5  commercial bicycle operators.  Let me start by

          6  saying that while we find some of the provisions of

          7  these bills to be problematic with respect to

          8  enforcement and feasibility, we support their

          9  intent.

         10                 We are in strong support of posting

         11  signs informing bicycle operators of proper safety

         12  procedures and traffic rules and regulations, as

         13  required in Intro 58.  Increased awareness amongst

         14  bicyclists is imperative to ensure safe cycling

         15  practices. However, we request the Council to

         16  consider amending the bill to allow DOT to

         17  promulgate rules as to which traffic rules and

         18  regulations should be included in the signage.  The

         19  bill specifies that all traffic rules applicable to

         20  bikes be included.  However, because bicycle

         21  operators must follow all traffic laws, these signs

         22  would be densely packed with information, decreasing

         23  the likelihood they will be read.  DOT's bike

         24  program has already identified key traffic rules

         25  specific to bicyclists, which can be found on the
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          2  bicycle maps we distribute as well as on our

          3  website.  In addition, there are many provisions of

          4  the bill that already exist in current laws.

          5                 Intro 24 requires employers to

          6  provide helmets to operators that they utilize and

          7  to ensure that each bicycle is equipped with proper

          8  safety equipment, including a lamp, bell, a brake,

          9  and reflective devices.  We applaud the Council for

         10  their efforts to ensure the safety of bicycle

         11  operators, however, we do not think Intro 24 goes

         12  far enough.  While it ensures that employers provide

         13  helmets, it does not mandate that the operators wear

         14  them.  We urge the Council to go even farther by

         15  making bicycle helmets mandatory for all bicyclists

         16  in New York City.  In fact, the Administration is

         17  currently working on mandatory bicycle helmet

         18  legislation and we hope to have a draft available

         19  shortly for the Council.

         20                 In 2005, 24 bicyclists were killed on

         21  New York City streets, and in 2006, 13 bicyclists

         22  were killed.  Over the last ten years, there have

         23  been over 200 bicycle related fatalities and over

         24  41,000 injuries city- wide.  Head injury is the

         25  leading cause of death in these accidents and the
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          2  use of a helmet is probably the most effective way a

          3  cyclist can better protect himself or herself.

          4                 Our recently published report

          5  provided us with crucial supporting evidence on the

          6  importance of wearing a bicycle helmet.  It found

          7  that in New York City most fatal crashes, 74

          8  percent, involved a head injury and nearly all

          9  bicyclists who died, 97 percent, were not wearing a

         10  helmet.  The National Highway Traffic Safety

         11  Administration corroborates our findings and cites

         12  that less than 25 percent of all bicyclists wear

         13  helmets, despite the fact that nearly 70 percent of

         14  fatal bicycle crashes involve head injuries.

         15  Further research shows that helmets are 85 to 88

         16  percent effective in mitigating head and brain

         17  injuries and that riders who do not wear helmets are

         18  14 times more likely to be involved in a fatal crash

         19  than riders who do.  For these reasons a mandatory

         20  helmet use law in New York City is imperative.

         21                 A mandatory helmet law will

         22  complement DOT's existing program to distribute free

         23  bicycle helmets to all interested cyclists in New

         24  York City.  Through calling 311, residents are

         25  referred to one of DOT's six Safety City traffic
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          2  safety education centers located city- wide, where

          3  they can schedule an appointment to be properly

          4  fitted for a free helmet. Additionally, DOT

          5  distributes free helmets through HealthPlus, the

          6  not- for- profit health care plan, and at special

          7  events, such as health fairs and various

          8  recreational races.  Through all of our helmet

          9  distribution programs we have already supplied,

         10  fitted and distributed 1,400 helmets since last

         11  September.  Later this Spring we plan to vastly

         12  expand our helmet distribution program through a

         13  generous donation from Target.  Target has given DOT

         14  $50,000 dollars to purchase helmets for us to

         15  distribute throughout the City to those areas and

         16  individuals who are in need of this crucial

         17  protective gear.

         18                 We have also begun to focus our

         19  helmet distribution efforts at delivery and courier

         20  personnel, those individuals who you aim to reach

         21  today through this legislation.  We have begun to

         22  work with the Lincoln Square Business Improvement

         23  District, and I see Monica Blum who heads up that

         24  bid is here, to identify restaurants with a high

         25  volume of delivery business in efforts to distribute
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          2  helmets to their delivery people.  We hope to work

          3  with other bids to expand this effort in

          4  neighborhoods throughout the City.  In conjunction

          5  with our distribution efforts, we will also be

          6  working with the Health Department's Health Academy

          7  to circulate cards to restaurants around the City

          8  that contain bike safety information.

          9                 But distributing helmets, receiving

         10  generous contributions and targeting our efforts at

         11  commercial operators are simply not enough.  Intro

         12  24 and 58 certainly move in the right direction, but

         13  we strongly urge the Council to go farther.  In the

         14  next several years, in part as a result of our

         15  City's growing bicycle infrastructure, there will be

         16  more and more bicyclists on our streets.  Not just

         17  experienced cyclists, but we expect many new riders

         18  as well.  We need to do our part to ensure their

         19  protection.

         20                 If helmets can prevent many, or even

         21  some, bicycle fatalities and injuries that occur,

         22  why would we not take the next step and mandate them

         23  for all users?  The health and safety of all New

         24  Yorkers should always be our common objective.  We

         25  hope to have a finalized version of our mandatory
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          2  helmet bill to the Council very soon.

          3                 Thank you for the opportunity to

          4  testify before you today, and we would be happy to

          5  answer some questions.

          6                 CHAIRPERSON LIU: Thank you

          7  Commissioner.  Let me note we've been joined Council

          8  Member Joe Addabbo from Queens, and Council Member

          9  Oliver Koppell from the Bronx.  I want to thank you

         10  for your comments and testimony Commissioner

         11  Weinshall.

         12                 Let me get this straight, you think

         13  we don't go far enough in this legislation.  That's

         14  quite a shift and not an unwelcome shift.  I'm just

         15  kidding around.  I know that we have been

         16  collaborating on helmet legislation in the hopes of

         17  making it safer for New Yorkers, especially as we

         18  try to encourage and promote more use of bicycles in

         19  New York City, and we look forward to getting that

         20  draft.  In the meantime, I think it does make sense

         21  that we proceed with Council Member Gerson and also

         22  Council Member Brewer's bill just because they do

         23  make sense.  It would seem to me that, again as I

         24  said before, being on a bicycle on New York City

         25  streets is an extension of the workplace for these
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          2  workers who are one bicycles much of the day.  So

          3  there is some obligation on the part of the

          4  employers to provide those basic safety measures in

          5  the extended workplace.  We look forward to working

          6  closely with you. I think what you said about Intro

          7  58 makes sense.  We want a sign that is effective

          8  and DOT clearly has a great deal of expertise in

          9  making signs that are easily understood and not

         10  ignored by people. At the same time, the bicycle

         11  bill, I personally agree with you that the bill is

         12  rather limited in scope, and that's the intent of

         13  the bill.  The intent of the bill is not to have,

         14  and I think Council Member Gerson will add to this,

         15  the intent of his bill is not to have a broad

         16  mandate on the use of bicycle helmets.  I think

         17  we'll hear varying opinions about that today, but it

         18  really is about workplace safety and protecting the

         19  lives and safety of workers.

         20                 We have questions from Council Member

         21  Gerson.

         22                 COUNCIL MEMBER GERSON: Thank you very

         23  much Mr. Chair, and, again, thank you again

         24  Commissioner for your testimony. I just need to add

         25  to the remarks that I made earlier that truly over
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          2  the years it's been a pleasure  --  you know in

          3  Lower Manhattan we've had very special

          4  transportation issues and we would not have

          5  surmounted them as well as other issues as

          6  successfully as we have without your leadership and

          7  your input, and on behalf of my community, I thank

          8  you for that.

          9                 COMMISSIONER WEINSHALL: Well

         10  Councilman I just want to point out that you won't

         11  be getting rid of me so fast because, as you know,

         12  CUNY is responsible for rebuilding Fitterman Hall so

         13  I will be working very closely with you on that.

         14                 COUNCIL MEMBER GERSON: I am looking

         15  forward to that, and I did not mean to imply  --

         16                 COMMISSIONER WEINSHALL: No.  That's

         17  okay.

         18                 COUNCIL MEMBER GERSON:  Mr. Chair we

         19  have had distributed for being entered for the

         20  record a statement from Dr. Goldschmitt who is the

         21  former and recent Chief of Emergency Services at the

         22  New York Downtown Hospital just a few blocks from

         23  where we sit, and since the statement will be

         24  entered into the record I will not read it in full,

         25  but I just want to read one sentence which is
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          2  germane to your remarks and the testimony of the

          3  Commissioner, and that is in fact, commercial

          4  bicyclists take a disproportionately high percentage

          5  of the serious head injury cases.  I guess that is a

          6  matter of common sense since these folks are under

          7  pressure to get to their destinations and return

          8  swiftly. They navigate, often heavily, traffic

          9  streets at all hours of all conditions of lighting.

         10  So if we could take one first step in assuring

         11  overall general bicycle safety improvements, it

         12  seems to me, and especially since it sounds that we

         13  are in agreement, we could start with the Intro

         14  before us 24A, requiring that employers provide

         15  helmets as well the other basic safety equipment and

         16  then consider, as soon as we receive it, the

         17  Administration's proposal. I would just add Mr.

         18  Chair, I think the Commissioner does make a very

         19  good point which would require a technical amendment

         20  to the language.  Clearly it's the intent that if we

         21  distribute the helmets  --

         22                 COMMISSIONER WEINSHALL:  -- That you

         23  want them to wear it.

         24                 COUNCIL MEMBER GERSON: We want them

         25  to wear it.  So I would certainly support, if you
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          2  would concur Commissioner, additional language

          3  requiring that the folks receive the helmets, in

          4  fact, must wear it while they are traveling.  Does

          5  that make sense?

          6                 COMMISSIONER WEINSHALL: Yes.  We

          7  would want the bill to require businesses not only

          8  to provide the helmet, but that the operator must

          9  wear the helmet, and we would be happy to work the

         10  Council to come up with language that would amend

         11  that bill.

         12                 COUNCIL MEMBER GERSON: Mr. Chair I

         13  think that certainly makes sense, and I would

         14  support that.  I just want to add we talked about

         15  helmets, but of course, the other safety equipment

         16  is equally indispensable, and while we may take it

         17  for granted, I have in fact, and I think we'll hear

         18  testimony to the effect, that in fact not all

         19  bicycles used for these commercial purposes are

         20  fully equipped.  In fact, I've heard horror stories

         21  of delivery personnel sent out with bikes without

         22  brakes with some kind of misguided notion that those

         23  bikes will go faster than they would with brakes,

         24  and they could just use their feet to brake the

         25  bikes, and that has been reported in my community.
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          2  I was shocked when I heard that.  I'm sure we all

          3  are.  So I think these people perform a vital

          4  service to all New Yorkers, and we in this City owe

          5  it to them to ensure they have all the protection

          6  they deserve.  So with the amendment of which we

          7  spoke I hope we will swiftly enact this legislation

          8  and go on to consider additional necessary steps.

          9                 COMMISSIONER WEINSHALL: Councilman I

         10  would just agree with you in terms of the safety

         11  features on the bicycles, particularly the

         12  reflective gear aspect.  As we all know, there could

         13  be inclement weather, it can be very dark, and to

         14  the extent that another bicyclist or motorist sees a

         15  bicyclist in their path and there is this reflective

         16  gear, it just adds to the safety initiative that we

         17  are trying to get across here.

         18                 COUNCIL MEMBER GERSON: I certainly

         19  agree, and I thank you.  Let me just ask, as a final

         20  question or comment of our representatives from the

         21  Police Department.  I presume that you concur with

         22  the Commissioner and the bill as we've discussed it.

         23  Is there any information from your experience, from

         24  the prospective of NYPD that you might want to add

         25  as to these matters?
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          2                 INSPECTOR MURTAGH: Nothing to add.

          3  We definitely agree with the Commissioner.  We think

          4  that's definitely the step to go.

          5                 COUNCIL MEMBER GERSON: Thank you very

          6  much.

          7                 CHAIRPERSON LIU: Thank you.

          8  Questions from Council Member Brewer.

          9                 COUNCIL MEMBER BREWER: Thank you very

         10  much.  Thank you for your testimony.  I have two

         11  questions.  I agree with you regarding 58 that there

         12  should be some conference regarding the language

         13  because it could always be improved, but I guess my

         14  question is do you think that it makes sense to

         15  reiterate the current laws because even though the

         16  laws are on the books, often people don't know what

         17  the laws are?  So I am just wondering when you said

         18  it is too complicated or it needs to be streamlined,

         19  I agree with you.  I just wanted to have a little

         20  bit more explanation as to what you think the poster

         21  should include.  This is one that has  --  there is

         22  a lot of information because there are three

         23  languages here, Chinese, Russian and English.

         24                 COMMISSIONER WEINSHALL: Well just as

         25  a  -- we took a first stab at this, and we thought
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          2  that the postings should include the following

          3  information, businesses must identify on the bike

          4  the name and number of the establishment, that

          5  bicycles must obey all New York City traffic rules,

          6  bikes are not permitted to ride against traffic, a

          7  common mistake that bicyclists make, bikes are not

          8  permitted on the sidewalk unless bike wheels are

          9  less than 26 inches.  We've all heard about delivery

         10  people, and I know it was a particularly bad issue

         11  on the Upper East Side and maybe on the Upper West

         12  Side, where bicyclists, delivery people were riding

         13  on the sidewalk.

         14                 COUNCIL MEMBER BREWER: Yes.

         15                 COUNCIL MEMBER GERSON: And Downtown.

         16                 COMMISSIONER WEINSHALL: And what

         17  Councilman Gerson talked about, a white headlight

         18  and red taillight must be used from dusk to dawn, a

         19  bell or other audible signal, working brakes,

         20  reflective tires and other reflective devices are

         21  required at all times.  These are just some of our

         22  thoughts because if there's too much information,

         23  people are going to just pass the poster by and say

         24  I can't deal with this.

         25                 COUNCIL MEMBER BREWER: Okay.  I
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          2  agree.  I mean I think that's definitely worth

          3  discussing to figure out the best listing.

          4  Actually, about three quarters of what you mentioned

          5  is here.  So there's lots of commonality.  Thank

          6  you.  That's very helpful.  For the Deputy Inspector

          7  Murtagh who, for those of you who don't know, rides

          8  his bicycle to work, maybe not today, but on a

          9  regular basis from one borough to the next.  I know

         10  we're very jealous.  He's in the 19 but was in the

         11  20 and has a long distinguished career.  So I was

         12  just wondering, Deputy Inspector, what some of the

         13  ways in which you think bicycle safety can be

         14  improved, particularly for those who are working in

         15  the commercial field.

         16                 INSPECTOR MURTAGH: We agree with

         17  everything that's been said by the Council and by

         18  the Commissioner.  The issue is I think we should go

         19  further and require wearing of that helmet.

         20                 COUNCIL MEMBER BREWER: All right.  So

         21  you agree that is should be mandatory.

         22                 INSPECTOR MURTAGH: Yes.

         23                 COUNCIL MEMBER BREWER: Okay.  Thank

         24  you very much Mr. Chair.

         25                 CHAIRPERSON LIU: Thank you very much.
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          2    Would that be difficult to enforce Inspector or is

          3  that relatively simple?  How much of a priority

          4  would it be?

          5                 INSPECTOR MURTAGH: The wearing of it

          6  would be enforceable.  The officer observes somebody

          7  not wearing it, you could enforce it.  The issue now

          8  the way it's currently written, it's very difficult

          9  to enforce because we are requiring the business to

         10  purchase the helmet to make it accessible to the

         11  rider. The issue is for us to enforce that, if we

         12  went into the premise and asked the business owner

         13  did you supply helmets, he opens up a closet door

         14  and he's got a box of six, ten, twelve helmets and

         15  he says I have the helmets.  Whether or not they

         16  become technically accessible to the operator

         17  becomes an issue.  Then if he has helmets, how are

         18  we going to enforce whether it's accessible to the

         19  operator or not.  It makes it very difficult.

         20                 CHAIRPERSON LIU: So the question is

         21  who would get the ticket?

         22                 INSPECTOR MURTAGH: I don't know if we

         23  could actually write the ticket.  If there were no

         24  helmets, then we could right a summons, but if there

         25  were some helmets  --  although then we don't know
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          2  if they properly fit, and a helmet that doesn't

          3  properly fit doesn't help the safety.  So it's very

          4  difficult to enforce whether they actually make it

          5  to the delivery person.

          6                 CHAIRPERSON LIU: And what if someone

          7  was on a messenger route or making a delivery and

          8  wasn't wearing a helmet?

          9                 INSPECTOR MURTAGH: Unless we mandate

         10  them to wear it, we couldn't enforce it if they

         11  didn't have a helmet on.

         12                 CHAIRPERSON LIU: Okay.  Thank you.

         13  We've been joined by Council Member Jessica Lappin

         14  of Manhattan, and we have questions from Council

         15  Member Reyna.

         16                 COUNCIL MEMBER REYNA: I just wanted

         17  to ask.  The Department of Consumer Affairs does it

         18  play any at all, if any, as far as the establishment

         19  of the business?

         20                 COMMISSIONER WEINSHALL: I have no

         21  idea.  I don't know.  My staff is shaking their head

         22  no.

         23                 COUNCIL MEMBER REYNA: So as far as

         24  the signage is concerned, placed within the

         25  establishment of the business that would be only
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          2  enforced and as far as the current legislation as

          3  written helmets being present at the business

          4  location would be enforced by the Police Department,

          5  and the Police Department alone. So Consumer Affairs

          6  does not play any type of role in similar to what

          7  they do as far as inspecting businesses  --

          8                 COMMISSIONER WEINSHALL: Everyone is

          9  nodding their head yes so I guess that's it.

         10                 COUNCIL MEMBER REYNA: Thank you.

         11                 CHAIRPERSON LIU: Thank you.  And one

         12  follow- up from Council Member Gerson.

         13                 COUNCIL MEMBER GERSON: Thank you.

         14  Deputy Inspector, on the issue of enforceability, if

         15  we proceed to require employers to provide helmets

         16  and the drivers to wear them, I mean you describe

         17  certain enforcement issues, but they don't sound to

         18  me anymore significantly daunting then a host of

         19  other enforcement issues which NYPD faces on a daily

         20  basis on which you do an outstanding job.  So, I

         21  mean if we enact this law, I could imagine any

         22  numbers of ways in which NYPD with DOT could devise

         23  enforcement strategies if you pull over someone

         24  riding without a helmet and you ask and they say

         25  well it wasn't given to us, and we see a pattern
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          2  from the same place, I would imagine that would

          3  provide grounds for a basic investigation which

          4  would yield, a very limited one, but which could

          5  yield results.  I mean you're more of an expert than

          6  I am.  I guess my question is if we enact this law,

          7  would we be able to develop strategies involving

          8  your two agencies that would make it as enforceable

          9  as anything else.

         10                 INSPECTOR MURTAGH: Yes we could.  As

         11  the way you stated it where we mandate that the

         12  person who works for that business wears the helmet

         13  that was made accessible.  If that's mandated, yes

         14  we can definitely do it.

         15                 COUNCIL MEMBER GERSON: Okay.  Well

         16  thank you very much.  That's very important.  Thank

         17  you.

         18                 CHAIRPERSON LIU: Thank you Council

         19  Member Gerson, and questions from Council Member

         20  Lappin.

         21                 COUNCIL MEMBER LAPPIN: Mr. Chairman,

         22  I apologize for being late today, and I wanted to

         23  thank you Deputy Inspector Murtagh for all of your

         24  good work.  We're very happy to have you on the East

         25  Side, and if you covered this, I apologize.  I just
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          2  wanted to ask a question particularly about

          3  enforcement because there are already many laws on

          4  the books that we have a hard time enforcing in

          5  terms of the bells, the lights, the vests, the lists

          6  that are supposed to be kept in the businesses.  So,

          7  is there anything in particular in terms of making

          8  enforcement easier that should be included that

          9  hasn't been included?

         10                 INSPECTOR MURTAGH: I guess that's

         11  going to depend on which one of the violations.  We

         12  have some statistics on some of the summonses.  Our

         13  computer system doesn't capture all of the

         14  breakdowns in category, but just in 2006, city- wide

         15  criminal court summonses for bicycle violations,

         16  there were 40,806 summonses that were written.  In

         17  the moving of the traffic court, there were 5,598

         18  summonses written.  So, to sort of specify as to

         19  which violation, you know I would have to see which

         20  categories.  We currently don't break it down to

         21  that level.

         22                 COUNCIL MEMBER LAPPIN: In terms of

         23  these bills in particular for enforcement, is there

         24  something obvious that we're missing?  I mean we

         25  want to make the job easier for you to enforce
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          2  because that's the most important thing if we pass

          3  these laws, that we're able implement them.  So I

          4  just to ask in terms of these two bills if there's

          5  anything that would be helpful.

          6                 INSPECTOR MURTAGH: No.  Just the one

          7  change that was brought up about mandating that the

          8  person wears the helmet that was given to them.

          9                 COUNCIL MEMBER LAPPIN: Thank you.

         10                 CHAIRPERSON LIU: Thank you Council

         11  Member Lappin, and a follow- up from Council Member

         12  Reyna.

         13                 COUNCIL MEMBER REYNA: Deputy

         14  Inspector Murtagh, how many officers do you dedicate

         15  to enforcement as far at the signage is concerned in

         16  these businesses?

         17                 INSPECTOR MURTAGH: With respect to

         18  the bicycles?

         19                 COUNCIL MEMBER REYNA: Correct.  There

         20  is a sign that Council Member Brewer held up.  Is

         21  that currently in businesses now?

         22                 INSPECTOR MURTAGH: No.  It is not

         23  required. Currently, without passing this bill, we

         24  do not enforce.  There is nothing to enforce.

         25                 COMMISSIONER WEINSHALL: It's
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          2  voluntary.  I mean the business can voluntarily put

          3  up their own signs, but there is nothing that

          4  mandates the business  --

          5                 COUNCIL MEMBER REYNA: Within the law?

          6    So, now moving forward with this proposal of law

          7  mandating this signage, as far as officers enforcing

          8  the law, how many officers would you assign to

          9  enforcing this particular signage?

         10                 INSPECTOR MURTAGH: Well we don't

         11  specifically assign officers to go out and do it.

         12  All of the officers would be trained on the law, and

         13  would issue the summonses and the enforcement as we

         14  came upon it.

         15                 COUNCIL MEMBER REYNA: So, you know

         16  like you have your conditions unit, would that

         17  address the particular signage law?

         18                 INSPECTOR MURTAGH: Sure.  Sure.

         19                 COUNCIL MEMBER REYNA: And is there

         20  any reason why the Department of Consumer Affairs

         21  wouldn't be able to just give out the summons rather

         22  than the Police Department?

         23                 INSPECTOR MURTAGH: I don't know if I

         24  can speak for them actually.

         25                 COUNCIL MEMBER REYNA: Do you find it
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          2  logical that the Police Department enforce signage

          3  within the business or do you see more sense that

          4  the Department of Consumer Affairs, in the role that

          5  they play in the City of New York, to be able

          6  summons a business if there is no proper signage

          7  required by the law?

          8                 INSPECTOR MURTAGH: I think if we

          9  could have both of us do it.

         10                 CHAIRPERSON LIU: Speaking as a Member

         11  of the Consumer Affairs Committee, Council Member

         12  Reyna, I think, generally speaking, the bills that

         13  require the Department of Consumer Affairs to have

         14  some kind of enforcement of judicature role pertain

         15  more to issues that directly affect the consumers as

         16  opposed to issues that affect the employees and the

         17  workers in that business.

         18                 COUNCIL MEMBER REYNA: Thank you Mr.

         19  Chair.

         20                 CHAIRPERSON LIU: Thank you.  There

         21  being no other questions, unless there is a follow-

         22  up comment from Commissioner Weinshall.

         23                 COMMISSIONER WEINSHALL: Just one

         24  other thing Mr. Chairman, as I said, we will be

         25  submitting the mandatory bike helmet legislation to

                                                            33

          1  COMMITTEE ON TRANSPORTATION

          2  you very shortly.  What we would ask is if we could

          3  schedule a hearing very quickly to deal with that

          4  issue, and have a dialogue and a discussion about it

          5  because we feel as a result of the report that we

          6  issued this past September that the data and the

          7  information really cries out for this type of

          8  legislation.  So what we would ask is that we could

          9  work with your office to set- up a hearing maybe

         10  within the next month.

         11                 CHAIRPERSON LIU: Okay.  That's fine.

         12  I mean I think that's the first time in five years

         13  that not only have you asked us to hold a hearing on

         14  a piece of legislation, but that you've asked us to

         15  do it within a month.  Not really sure why the time

         16  frame  --

         17                 COMMISSIONER WEINSHALL: Well time is

         18  ticking away here and you know.

         19                 CHAIRPERSON LIU: We will do

         20  everything we can to accommodate that request.  I

         21  certainly echo my colleagues congratulations to you

         22  in your new role.  I think you'll continue to add a

         23  great deal of vigor to what we do here in New York

         24  City. With regard to that specific request and the

         25  legislation, I think as I've expressed to you, I
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          2  think that the mandatory helmet bill makes sense.

          3  It will keep people safe, but it should not be the

          4  only thing that we should do additionally to keep

          5  bike riders safe. To the extent that we can look at

          6  things such as making sure that we have a revised

          7  master plan as soon possible for the bicyclists, and

          8  other measures that will further promote the use of

          9  bicycles and enhance the safety of bike riders as

         10  well as motorists and pedestrians.  We look forward

         11  to having that discussion.

         12                 COMMISSIONER WEINSHALL: Well, as I

         13  said in my testimony, and I agree with you, you know

         14  with the number of additional bike lanes, we're

         15  putting up the signage, and, of course, we have to

         16  be very thankful for Target's very substantial

         17  contribution of $50,000.  I might add that separate

         18  and apart, we didn't wait for their contribution.

         19  As I noted, starting in September, we started giving

         20  out our own free bike helmets, and I can only

         21  reiterate, I know that all the Council people put

         22  out newsletters, you should really advertise this.

         23  If people have a request, or a need for free

         24  helmets, they can call 311.  We will direct them to

         25  the right Safety City location and they can go there
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          2  and get a free helmet and get fitted for it because

          3  very often people are not properly fitted for their

          4  bike helmets.

          5                 CHAIRPERSON LIU: Thank you very much

          6  and thank you Inspector for joining us  --

          7                 COUNCIL MEMBER GERSON: Mr. Chairman,

          8  could I  --

          9                 CHAIRPERSON LIU: Oh, yes, please.

         10                 COUNCIL MEMBER GERSON: I may have

         11  missed this because I came late.  Good morning

         12  Commissioner.

         13                 COMMISSIONER WEINSHALL: Good morning.

         14                 COUNCIL MEMBER GERSON: What are the

         15  requirements to get a helmet because I wasn't aware

         16  of this program?

         17                 COMMISSIONER WEINSHALL: There is no

         18  requirement.

         19                 COUNCIL MEMBER GERSON: Anybody can

         20  get a helmet?

         21                 COMMISSIONER WEINSHALL: Anyone can

         22  get a helmet. Just call 311.

         23                 COUNCIL MEMBER GERSON: Do you have a

         24  flyer of something on that we could  --

         25                 DEPUTY COMMISSIONER WOLOCH: Yes.  The
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          2  information is up on our website, but we're happy to

          3  get you the information.  I think what's most

          4  important is that we will give a helmet to anybody

          5  who is willing to be fitted.  So we won't just

          6  distribute helmets. What's very important  --

          7

          8                 COMMISSIONER WEINSHALL: We're not

          9  going to mail you one.  You've got to come to one of

         10  our Safety City locations.

         11                 COUNCIL MEMBER GERSON: Right.

         12  Understood.

         13                 COMMISSIONER WEINSHALL: We will fit

         14  you properly for it, and you walk out with a free

         15  helmet.

         16                 COUNCIL MEMBER GERSON: I'm interested

         17  to learn that the City's providing that and we'll

         18  inform the constituency.  I have my own network that

         19  I inform, and they'll be informed.

         20                 COMMISSIONER WEINSHALL: I'll put it

         21  on my email.

         22                 COUNCIL MEMBER BREWER: Good.  Great.

         23  Thank you.

         24                 CHAIRPERSON LIU: Thank you very much

         25  Commissioner. Thank you Inspector, and thank you
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          2  Deputy Commissioner.

          3                 Our next panel will consist of Monica

          4  Blum from the Lincoln Square BID, Noah Budnick from

          5  Transportation Alternatives and Sarinya Srisakul

          6  from the New York Bicycle Messenger Foundation.

          7  Following this panel, we'll have a panel consisting

          8  of David Louie from the Chinese Chamber of Commerce,

          9  Rajani Aahikany from the Restaurant Opportunity

         10  Center of New York, along with her colleague, Sekou

         11  Siby and Yan Chow who is one such delivery person

         12  who uses bicycles.

         13                 Ms. Blum, please proceed when you're

         14  ready.

         15                 MS. BLUM: Thank you very much.  First

         16  of all, I have to say that I sort of can dispose  --

         17    I hope I can dispose of my testimony because I had

         18  come prepared to say that this legislation, which I

         19  do support, was missing a few teeth.  Frankly, I

         20  think that the teeth that were missing, it seems

         21  that you're moving in the right direction.

         22  Requiring business owners to provide helmets does

         23  not require the delivery person to wear a helmet,

         24  and I think that it's critical that you mandate that

         25  the delivery person wear a helmet.
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          2                 I have to say this is my issue.

          3  Bicycle riding on sidewalks, I, myself, ask people

          4  to get off the sidewalks on a daily basis.  The

          5  Lincoln Square BID has had a program for the last

          6  six years to try to make our sidewalks, and streets,

          7  safer for pedestrians and bicycle riders.  So we've

          8  warned and chased approximately 19,000 bike riders

          9  off the sidewalks in the last five years.  We also

         10  distribute and perhaps this will help with the

         11  second piece of legislation on the requiring of

         12  signage, we distribute this little red thing which

         13  is  --  these are the bicycle rules and we've done

         14  what Commissioner Weinshall has suggested, that you

         15  highlight the relevant rules for bicycle riders.  So

         16  every time we chase, or we try as least, every time

         17  we ask someone to get off the sidewalk, we give them

         18  one of these little red fliers.  So I've left copies

         19  for you so you can see. We've chosen the rules that

         20  we believe are important which your Intro 58, I

         21  think, would do if you were to mandate the posting

         22  of posters.  We've worked closely with Council

         23  Member Gale Brewer, with the 20th Precinct when

         24  Captain Mertile was there, and with Transportation

         25  Alternatives to try to make our sidewalks safer for
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          2  delivery people and for pedestrians.  I think it was

          3  last year  -- I know it was before your accident

          4  Noah, I know  --  we worked with Transportation

          5  Alternatives and the 20th Precinct to distribute the

          6  poster that Council Member Brewer made reference to

          7  and one of the ways that we were helpful is that the

          8  posters were distributed jointly and then we sent

          9  our security ambassadors to check and then we

         10  notified the police if we saw that they were

         11  missing.  So that really responds to Diana Reyna's

         12  question or comment.  Certainly business improvement

         13  districts and other neighborhood organizations could

         14  assist the police in ensuring that businesses post

         15  the required signage.

         16                 The other thing, we started working a

         17  couple of months ago with DOT on a voluntary pilot

         18  program to distribute helmets.  We haven't given

         19  them out yet, or DOT hasn't given them out yet, but

         20  we've started talking to businesses that make

         21  deliveries and they are receptive, but it's

         22  unrealistic to expect the City to do this on a city-

         23  wide basis which is why if you mandate it, then the

         24  business will have to provide a helmet, and it will

         25  be easy for the police to enforce.  It'll be easier
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          2  for me to say stop.  You're not wearing a helmet.

          3  So, I really applaud you for taking these first

          4  steps and I would urge you to put the teeth in,

          5  mandate the wearing of helmets and, frankly, I think

          6  that you should go further and mandate the wearing

          7  of helmets for anyone who rides a bicycle in the

          8  City.  I think it's analogous to you drive a car on

          9  a City street, you wear a seatbelt, you drive a

         10  bicycle on a City street, you wear a helmet.  I

         11  think motorcycle riders are required to wear

         12  helmets, so you would just make the news if you did

         13  this, but as least this would be a first step.  So

         14  you are to be commended and I hope you'll make the

         15  amendment mandating it.

         16                 CHAIRPERSON LIU: Thank you.  Thank

         17  you Ms. Blum. What do you think Noah?

         18                 MR. BUDNICK: First Chairman I want to

         19  thank you for convening this hearing.  I want to

         20  thank Council Member Brewer and Council Member

         21  Gerson for introducing this legislation.

         22                 Transportation Alternatives has

         23  worked with these Council Members and others since

         24  2003 when we started our Working Cyclist Safety

         25  Campaign, and that campaign was based on this
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          2  poster.  This is a version that's in Chinese and

          3  English, and we also have a Spanish/English version.

          4    We distribute about 2,000 of these posters to

          5  businesses, mostly on the Upper East and Upper West

          6  Side of Midtown, but also in Downtown Brooklyn and

          7  other neighborhoods where we get a lot of complaints

          8  about delivery cyclists safety and pedestrian

          9  safety.  We've really made an effort to increase

         10  awareness of the laws that cyclist have to follow

         11  and also the regulations that their employers have

         12  to follow.  We've worked with both restaurants and

         13  with the New York City Bike Messenger Association to

         14  distribute these posters.

         15                 I have to say that we have a couple

         16  of recommendations on these pieces of legislation

         17  today and that they are all aimed at promoting and

         18  increasing cycling at the end of the day because

         19  what statistics show, and you'll see the back of the

         20  testimony that I brought today has a graph of

         21  cycling rates and crashes, and the statistics show,

         22  not just in New York City, but in cities around the

         23  world there is this phenomenon called safety in

         24  numbers.  The more people who ride regularly on the

         25  streets the fewer crashes there are.  That's because
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          2  the more cyclists there are the more motorists

          3  become aware of cyclists they get used to looking

          4  for them and they drive safely around them.  The

          5  chart on the back of my testimony shows that as

          6  cycling has increased about a third over the last

          7  ten years, annual crashes and fatalities have

          8  decrease about 40 percent.  It goes a little against

          9  what you'd think, but it's impressive and it's been

         10  documented in cities around the world.

         11                 Specifically towards these two pieces

         12  of legislation that are being discussed today,

         13  Transportation Alternatives believes that this all

         14  boils down to enforcement, and I'm glad that Council

         15  Member Reyna brought of the issue of the Department

         16  of Consumer Affairs.  We would also recommend that

         17  the Health Department has enforcement power on these

         18  regulations because they already inspect restaurants

         19  looking for workplace safety and hygiene issues, and

         20  it just makes sense that as the Health Department

         21  works more to incorporate bicycle safety into their

         22  Health Academy and other materials that they are

         23  distributing that they have the purview to check to

         24  make sure that helmets are being providing and that

         25  these safety posters are being put up.
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          2                 The enforcement needs to be focused

          3  at the business level for a couple of reasons.

          4  Number one, for pure efficiency. It's just

          5  inefficient for a police officers to stop every

          6  single cyclists that they see on the street and

          7  enforce the commercial cycling laws against them.

          8  I've gone on ride- a- longs with police officers in

          9  the 19th Precinct.  I've gone door- to- door with

         10  officers in the 20th and 24th Precincts.  It's much

         11  more effective to go into the restaurants, to talk

         12  to the business owners and managers, and make sure

         13  that they are providing for the safety of their

         14  employees and not to stop every individual cyclist

         15  that you see on the street.  To focus enforcement of

         16  the business owners also helps to institutionalize

         17  safe cycling.  Because turnover is high and because

         18  many delivery cyclists come from foreign countries

         19  and are not familiar with the rules of the road in

         20  the U.S., making the business owners and managers

         21  aware of cycling safety and the importance of safety

         22  will ingrain in them the importance of talking to

         23  every single employee that starts with them and

         24  reiterating to their employees the importance of

         25  safety.  So it's not a continuous effort of talking
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          2  to every new cyclist that takes up the job of being

          3  of a delivery person but that the businesses

          4  themselves make this a regular part of the training

          5  that they put in for their delivery people.

          6                 It's also important to focus

          7  enforcement at the business level because of equity

          8  issues.  As everybody here knows being a delivery

          9  cyclist is a very low paying job, and talking to

         10  delivery cyclists, the main reason why more

         11  restaurant delivery people don't wear helmets is

         12  simply because they cannot afford them.  TA,

         13  Transportation Alternatives, is proud to work with

         14  the DOT on their helmet distribution efforts and

         15  we've recently partnered with the Transportation

         16  Department and Uproads, which is a community based

         17  organization in Sunset Park, to distribute helmets

         18  to immigrants from Mexico and China who are living

         19  in the neighborhood and working as delivery

         20  cyclists.  It was very informative to go to this

         21  event and talk to the people, of course through

         22  translators who were there, and learn that they are

         23  very happy to have helmets but they simply can't

         24  afford them.  To have enforcement on the cyclist

         25  level, and to issue these people tickets, and fine
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          2  them, in addition to them not being able to afford a

          3  helmet, is simply not equitable and it doesn't make

          4  sense if you want to encourage them to have helmets

          5  and provide for safety equipment for themselves.

          6                 The last issue on enforcing on the

          7  business level is that on the street it can be very

          8  difficult for officers to differentiate between a

          9  commercial cyclists and a non- commercial cyclists,

         10  and, furthermore, between a commercial cyclists who

         11  is on the clock and one who is not.  Because of this

         12  and because of the opportunity that this kind of

         13  regulation for a simple stop and frisk activity from

         14  the Police Department, again we have concerns over

         15  cyclists harassment, and as Transportation

         16  Alternatives focused more on promoting cycling than

         17  the civil rights issues that have come up of late as

         18  the Police Department has released it's new stop and

         19  frisk stats, we can't help but avoid pointing this

         20  out because this is a problem.  As I've said, we

         21  feel strongly that this should be focused at the

         22  business owner level.

         23                 I just have two other points before I

         24  finish up my testimony.  First is that

         25  Transportation Alternatives hopes that the Council
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          2  will tighten the language in Intro 24 to prevent

          3  business owners from docking their workers pay or

          4  otherwise charging the employees for the safety

          5  equipment that they provide. Again, this is a matter

          6  of equity.  It's a matter of these working cyclist

          7  are making money for their businesses and it's the

          8  businesses responsibility to provide for their

          9  safety  We would also ask the Council to go further

         10  and not only provide helmets at their own expense

         11  but ask businesses to provide the lights, bells and

         12  batteries that cyclists are to use at their own

         13  expense as well.  I think that it's well intended to

         14  require businesses to ensure that the employees

         15  bicycle have the safety equipment but again I think

         16  on a matter of enforcement, it's difficult to

         17  enforce and for the employers to prove that they

         18  have ensured that their employees have lights and

         19  bells.  So I think it would be more simple to just

         20  require them to provide lights and bells.  As a

         21  matter of safety, experts agree that because lights

         22  increase visibility, that they are crucial to

         23  preventing bike crashes.

         24                 I want to thank the Council, again,

         25  for taking up these two pieces of legislation today,
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          2  and, again, we'd like to see this level of

          3  enforcement focused more at the business level to

          4  further promote and encourage cycling because the

          5  last thing that we want to see is for employers to

          6  give up bicycle delivery and switch to cars or motor

          7  scooters or otherwise more polluting forms of

          8  transportation because these laws are confusing or

          9  make it difficult for businesses to provide proof of

         10  compliance.  Thank you.

         11                 CHAIRPERSON LIU: Thank you Noah.

         12  It's good to have you back again.  We've been joined

         13  by Council Member Darlene Mealy from Brooklyn and

         14  Council Member Mike McMahon from Staten Island. Ms.

         15  Srisakul.

         16                 MS. SRISAKUL: Thank you.  My name is

         17  Sarinya Srisakul.  I am the Vice President of the

         18  New York Bike Messenger Foundation.  I am a former

         19  bike messenger and food delivery person of two

         20  years.  I am a current bicycle commuter.  I actually

         21  rode my bike here this morning in the cold.  And I

         22  am also currently an FDNY firefighter and I work out

         23  of Engine 5.  Because of my background, I have the

         24  unique perspective of not only having a job where

         25  I've been a victim of multiple traffic accidents,
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          2  but now I have a career as a first responder to

          3  them.

          4                 First of all, I would like to

          5  express, on behalf of my organization, our support

          6  of both initiatives because of the concern over the

          7  safety of working cyclists, a community that is

          8  often times neglected and vilified by the public.

          9  As the Council knows, bicycle safety is currently a

         10  hot button issue, but, unfortunately, it has been a

         11  problem that has consistently plagues our community.

         12    Throughout the years, we sadly had to bury many

         13  friends and co- workers due to the inherently

         14  dangerous working conditions of the job.

         15                 Safety and safe working conditions

         16  should be the forefront issue in our community.  In

         17  my current line of work, safety is of paramount

         18  importance, new drills, procedures and equipment are

         19  constantly being issues, unfortunately, at the

         20  sacrifice of other firefighters in the many perilous

         21  situations we find ourselves in.  However, in the

         22  world of working cyclists, safety is often times

         23  ignored and skirted over issues of finances by the

         24  hands of the industry and business owners.  We

         25  support Intro 24's suggestion of the provision and
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          2  costs of bicycle helmets and other safety measures

          3  to be absorbed by the companies, however, we are

          4  concerned over whether or not this will become a

          5  reality.

          6                 Because of the lack of enforcement

          7  and regulation, bicycle messenger companies have had

          8  an underhanded history of passing on extraneous cost

          9  to their workers instead of their clients.  This is

         10  evidenced through our documentation of messengers

         11  pressured to not file for Worker's Compensation when

         12  injured, the cut- throat pricing of messengered

         13  packages remaining stagnant for over ten years, and

         14  most pertinently, the issue over messenger companies

         15  charging their workers the cost of radios.

         16                 In 2004, the New York Bicycle

         17  Messenger Association met with the Office of the

         18  Attorney General, where it was deemed illegal for

         19  messenger companies to charge their workers for the

         20  use of radios, an integral part of dispatching work

         21  to couriers. Before we had met with the Attorney

         22  General, companies have been utilizing this practice

         23  for many years, ever since Nextel radios first came

         24  into use.  To this date, we are still aware of many

         25  companies taking part of this illegal practice
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          2  because of the arbitrary enforcement in the

          3  industry.

          4                 We are also in disagreement with the

          5  fining of couriers for minor infractions, such as

          6  not carrying company id as outlined in Introduction

          7  24 because of the unequal enforcement between

          8  messengers and messenger companies.  I guess this

          9  would be related if the bicycle helmet use would be

         10  mandatory.  Messengers are often times profiled by

         11  police for traffic violations when they are barely

         12  making enough money to live, let alone pay for the

         13  costs of these infractions.  The majority of bicycle

         14  couriers get paid commission instead of an hourly

         15  rate, with the average earning for a local package

         16  being $3.50.  When I delivered food, most of the

         17  money I made was on my tips.  I got paid $3 dollars

         18  an hour, and that was at a good restaurant.  Because

         19  of mounting costs of traffic tickets, messengers

         20  often times evade paying for these tickets and

         21  because they are moving violations, it is common to

         22  see messengers with suspended and revoked driver's

         23  licenses.  You know you can give messengers and food

         24  delivery people but they might not necessarily pay

         25  for them, and even if they're working under an

                                                            51

          1  COMMITTEE ON TRANSPORTATION

          2  illegal status that is also an issue.  On the other

          3  hand, it is far less likely to see messenger

          4  companies fined or reprimanded for the long list of

          5  grievances which include lack of overtime pay for

          6  time worked over 40 hours a week, messenger

          7  companies filing their workers under 1099

          8  independent contractor status, and many other

          9  infractions.

         10                 We are happy to be invited to this

         11  hearing and to have the opportunity to voice our

         12  concerns about these issues. These two bills are

         13  definitely a step in the right direction over the

         14  safety of working cyclists, however, we are hoping

         15  that the Council takes the time to discuss with the

         16  messenger community and owners about a realistic

         17  approach to this situation so that real change can

         18  come about.

         19                 As a courier, I have had my fair

         20  share of accidents and trips to the emergency room

         21  because of sharing the road with dangerous vehicles

         22  in such a congested City.  Now, as a firefighter, I

         23  have been a responder to even more traffic

         24  accidents.  I have witnessed people die at the hands

         25  of motor vehicles and at one juncture, I have
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          2  responded to a scene where a member of my messenger

          3  community almost died.  In my experience, i have

          4  never once seen an accident where a cyclist has

          5  seriously injured anyone.  However, if working

          6  cyclists were treated with the respect that is long

          7  due to them, and if messenger companies were

          8  responsible for their actions, then a safe working

          9  environment is a realistic goal that can be

         10  achieved.  Thank you.

         11                 CHAIRPERSON LIU: Thank you very much.

         12    We have a question from Council Member Lappin.

         13                 COUNCIL MEMBER LAPPIN: It was more

         14  really just a statement for Noah that I agree that,

         15  as much as we can, we should do enforcement at the

         16  business level.  I mean it deals with both of your

         17  comments because I think, ultimately, that's where

         18  you can see the most change, but the problem is that

         19  when I've investigated a lot of those potential sort

         20  of legislative remedies in the Council, I'm sort of

         21  told that it has to done to a certain extent on the

         22  State level.  State Senator Liz Kruger, I know, has

         23  introduced legislation in Albany that would push

         24  some of the fines and the obligations towards the

         25  commercial business owners.  I've even requested to
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          2  do a home rule message here in the Council, but

          3  unless it moves forward in more than just the State

          4  Senate, and it doesn't usually pass the State Senate

          5    --  I think she has introduced it a couple of

          6  years running  --  then it becomes difficult for us.

          7    I agree, philosophically, and have asked the

          8  Council to have something ready in case it ever did

          9  move through both Houses in Albany.

         10                 CHAIRPERSON LIU: Thank you Council

         11  Member Lappin. Council Member Gerson.

         12                 COUNCIL MEMBER GERSON: Thank you very

         13  much and this is why these hearings really are so

         14  important in crafting a final new law.

         15                 Let me just first say I concur 100

         16  percent with the point that the provision, not only

         17  the cost for the provision of the helmets, but all

         18  the other safety equipment, the bells, the lights,

         19  the brakes, should be fully absorbed by the

         20  employer.  That is the intent of the bill and we

         21  should, certainly Mr. Chair, follow- up with making

         22  the language absolutely clear and perhaps making it

         23  clear that places will be penalized if they attempt

         24  to pass on such costs to messengers.  It's well

         25  settled in this country that employers have a duty
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          2  of providing a safe working environment, and for

          3  bike messengers this safety equipment is part, in

          4  parcel, of a safe working environment.  At the same

          5  time, I think once that is done, we do have a

          6  responsibility to insist that the messengers use the

          7  helmets and are accountable for using the helmets.

          8  Clearly the costs needs to be provided by those who

          9  employ them without penalty.  So we will work to

         10  follow- up on that language.

         11                 I just want to take one second, and I

         12  don't know if any of the rest of you want to join

         13  me, and brainstorm on this issue that you raised of

         14  identification of folks in the street being able to

         15  tell or not tell whether or not we're dealing with a

         16  commercial messenger or delivery person or if

         17  they're are on duty or is they're off duty.  I can

         18  see that, now that you've raised it, as a practical

         19  problem.  I'm wondering if there are any practical

         20  solutions that any of you can think of off hand.

         21  For instance, should bicycles, and I presume that

         22  it's usually, if not always, that it's the

         23  establishments bicycle, not the individuals.  In

         24  some cases it is I guess the individuals.  Should

         25  bicycles be required to have some kind of signage on
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          2  the bicycle if it's the individuals maybe while

          3  they're working  --  I'm just brainstorming,

          4  thinking out loud here.  Is there any practical way

          5  that you could think of around that problem to avoid

          6  needless stops for folks not covered by the law?

          7                 That's what you get Noah, for raising

          8  a good issue.

          9                 MS. BLUM: The law currently requires

         10  that the business --  I have it in my little red

         11  card  --  the business must be identified on bike by

         12  name and number.  So, the businesses that comply,

         13  their name has to be on the bike.  Operators must

         14  wear upper body apparel with business name and

         15  operators number, and operators must carry, and

         16  produce on demand, numbered id's, not a license, but

         17  a numbered id with the operators photo, name, home

         18  address and business name, address and phone number.

         19    That's the business that's required to provide it.

         20    To me that seems to address the issue of a frisk

         21  that could lead to other problems. Businesses are

         22  supposed to do it now.  Some do.  Look at Domino's.

         23  They do it right.  We have some businesses in our

         24  district that do it right.  Although we haven't

         25  gotten as far as helmets, but I'm sure they will
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          2  comply.  So there are some businesses that

          3  understand this is advertising for them, and I think

          4  that this law would help take that a step further,

          5  if it's presented properly.

          6                 I think Noah can go on with his

          7  concerns.

          8                 MR. BUDNICK: Well, Monica is right to

          9  point out that this law is already on the books, but

         10  it's not followed and it's hardly enforced.  I was

         11  disappointed the Police Department was here today

         12  and could not produce and statistics on their

         13  enforcement. I know that in particular the 19th

         14  Precinct, the 17th, the 20th and 24th have in past

         15  tracked specific cycling enforcement summonsing

         16  activity because the Council Members in those

         17  districts have really raised it as an important

         18  issue, and it's a long time issue, certainly not one

         19  to be overlooked.  Without the summonsing data, we

         20  just know if the officers are enforcing it and the

         21  cause and effect of if this law that's already on

         22  the books is being enforced, if it's being followed

         23  because I agree with Monica that if businesses did

         24  comply, if their delivery people did have

         25  identifying apparel and a sign on their bike that it
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          2  would make it much easier for the public to hold

          3  businesses accountable.  For businesses  --  like

          4  Monica said, Domino's know what they are doing.

          5  They have a good reputation.  I know that Republic,

          6  which is a restaurant near Union Square, puts signs

          7  on their bikes and their guys all wear t- shirts and

          8  they all wear helmets, and that they have a good

          9  reputation for doing that.  So it's certainly in the

         10  businesses interest, but because it's not enforced,

         11  they're not compelled to do it.

         12                 MS. BLUM: The one other comment I

         13  want to make following up on Noah's comment.  The

         14  public  --  when we see someone, I always ask them

         15  where are you from, you know, the bicycle rider.  We

         16  call operations person, who is sitting here, we call

         17  restaurants and other places all the time and say

         18  your bicycle rider was not following the rules.

         19  Signage will help.  I think if we have this one

         20  other missing piece, the helmet, I think the police

         21  will enforce.  That's just my  --  Having worked

         22  with them for ten years, I think that we have to

         23  give them all the tools and it will make it much

         24  easier to enforce.

         25                 COUNCIL MEMBER GERSON: I guess that's
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          2  the hope.  The concern is for businesses which don't

          3  comply how to avoid needless stops and frisks.  I

          4  guess part of the answer is by requiring helmets and

          5  this other equipment it might lead to better and

          6  easier enforcement, and, ultimately, through

          7  monitoring, if you suspect a business is doing it,

          8  you could see if folks are leaving the establishment

          9  without the equipment and then clearly there's a

         10  problem with the establishment.  Ultimately we will

         11  have to rely on the public as well as the messenger

         12  community to help with enforcement as well as smart

         13  practices.  I think you're right in raising the

         14  concern over needless stops and frisks.  We should

         15  be aware of that.  Thank you very much Mr. Chair.

         16                 CHAIRPERSON LIU: Thank you Council

         17  Member Gerson. Council Members Brewers, Mealy, and

         18  then we will proceed to our next and final panel.

         19                 COUNCIL MEMBER BREWER: First of all,

         20  I want to thank Transportation Alternatives and

         21  certainly the BID for all the work that you've done

         22  in this area, and also Ms. Srisakul, thank you for

         23  your testimony, and I think you should be honored in

         24  Public Lies and the New York Times for all of your

         25  efforts as a human being to ride today, firefighter,
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          2  and knowing this industry so well.  So my question

          3  to you is, just in terms of the signage, do you

          4  think that even this small step, perhaps coupled

          5  with some of the suggestions made today, would

          6  enhance safety which is what we're all about just in

          7  terms of the signage in the restaurant?

          8                 MS. SRISAKUL: Absolutely.  Actually,

          9  as part of the New York Bike Messenger Association,

         10  we've produced booklets called the Know Your Rights

         11  Manual with these laws because a lot of messengers

         12  and couriers out there aren't aware of the laws.

         13  When I was a working messenger, I was aware of a lot

         14  of the laws when I got stopped by the police and

         15  tickets for them.  So we're in total support of your

         16  bill.

         17                 COUNCIL MEMBER BREWER: Thank you very

         18  much.  Thank you Mr. Chair.

         19                 CHAIRPERSON LIU: Thank you.  Council

         20  Member Mealy.

         21                 COUNCIL MEMBER MEALY: Good morning.

         22  This is a great --  I thank the Chair for doing

         23  this.  That is a common issue in our community just

         24  as well.  I just wanted to know, do you think

         25  commercial bicyclists get into more accidents than

                                                            60

          1  COMMITTEE ON TRANSPORTATION

          2  regular bicyclists?

          3                 MS. SRISAKUL: Absolutely.  That's

          4  without a question.  Commercial cyclists spend eight

          5  hours a day or more.  As a bike messenger, most

          6  messengers work like ten hours a day on the roads

          7  and because the work is commission based, and you

          8  don't get paid on an hourly basis, that's where a

          9  lot of the problems lie. A lot of messengers feel

         10  like they have to because they get paid $3.50 a

         11  package to even get minimum wage you just have to

         12  ride faster, you have to hustle, you're just in

         13  traffic more than a commuter whose mileage  --

         14  What's the mileage for an average commuter?  Five

         15  miles?  --  Five miles, whereas the messenger's

         16  average is 50 miles a day on a bike.

         17                 COUNCIL MEMBER MEALY: I apologize I

         18  wasn't here with the police was (sic) here.  They

         19  are keeping statistics on these accidents.

         20                 MR. BUDNICK: The Police Department

         21  keeps general statistics on all bicycle crashes, but

         22  they don't break them down. The report that I think

         23  the Transportation Department brought and

         24  distributed today is an analysis of the last ten

         25  years of crashes and they worked on this report with
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          2  the Health Department  --  It was Health,

          3  Transportation, Police and Parks worked on this

          4  report together and it was a great collaboration,

          5  but one of the findings was that they need more

          6  information  They need more detailed information,

          7  not just on who is getting in crashes but the

          8  contributing factors to the crashes and to the

          9  injuries to the crashes.  I think that the Health

         10  Department in particular has come to the floor in

         11  championing safety and has been very proactive in

         12  looking for ways to get more data and provide more

         13  insight to how to make the street safer for bike

         14  riding.

         15                 MS. SRISAKUL: And just one more thing

         16  about if there were even statistics about working

         17  cyclists it would be dramatically under reported

         18  because of the issue I mentioned about the Worker's

         19  Compensation.  That is a very real problem that we

         20  face where messengers will get injured and if they

         21  file for an accident report if they don't have

         22  health insurance they go to the hospital under an

         23  assumed name or they don't file for Worker's

         24  Compensation for fear of getting fired.  A lot of

         25  messengers, because they can't work because this is
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          2  their only job, will work through injuries.  It's

          3  just, you know  --

          4                 COUNCIL MEMBER MEALY: I have one more

          5  quick  -- Would you think it would be a good idea to

          6  have a basic rate of one day's pay for cyclist to

          7  get fitted at DOT  --  it's usually delivery people

          8   --  to get fitted for helmets.  Just as you go to

          9  New York City Motor Vehicle to get your license, why

         10  not, if we can set something up like that they go to

         11  DOT and get fitted for a helmet and it will

         12  translated to the business owner.  Is it  -- just

         13  keep that in mind to get DOT involved and to get the

         14  business owners involved just as well.  If they are

         15  registered, then the business owners have to pay for

         16  it and not the cyclists and then it's documented

         17  with DOT.  So keep that in mind.  It may be an

         18  avenue that you could go for to.

         19                 CHAIRPERSON LIU: Sure.  I think we'll

         20  keep that in mind with our discussions with the DOT

         21  as well.  Thank you Council Member Mealy and thank

         22  you for the panel.  Now I would like to call up our

         23  next and final panel consisting of David Louie of

         24  the Chinese Chamber of Commerce, Rajani Aahikany and

         25  Sekou Siby from the Restaurant Opportunities Center
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          2  of New York, and Yan Chow, a restaurant owner.

          3                 Mr. Louie, thank you very much for

          4  your strong advocacy of this bill and for joining us

          5  today.

          6                 MR. LOUIE: Thank you Council Member

          7  Liu and thank you Council Member Alan Gerson.  My

          8  name is David Louie.  I am the President of the

          9  Chinese Chamber of Commerce of New York.

         10                 I was the one who first met with

         11  Council Member Gerson more than three and a half

         12  years ago to push for legislation that would require

         13  restaurants to provide helmets to their delivery

         14  staff.  When I said restaurants, I meant restaurants

         15  and also the professional messenger delivery firms.

         16  The reason I initiated this was because in my other

         17  life I am also an insurance broker.  I have been an

         18  insurance broker for over 30 years, and I have

         19  insured many restaurants over 30 years and at that

         20  time, three and a half years ago, I was personally

         21  involved, that is to say that I was the insurance

         22  broker for at least three fatalities as a direct

         23  result of bicycle delivery without helmets.  I've

         24  also had an incident where a person did not die but

         25  ended up in a nursing home and still in a nursing
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          2  home now, and it would appear that the person will

          3  be there for the rest of his life, and countless

          4  numbers of broken arms and legs.  These things

          5  commonly happen.

          6                 The insurance industry as a practice,

          7  as a routine practice, inspects restaurants and come

          8  out with the recommendation that helmets and that

          9  reflective vests should be provided for their

         10  delivery people.  This can only be a recommendation

         11  by the insurance company.  Unfortunately, far to

         12  many restaurants ignore the recommendation and then

         13  we have these injuries.

         14                 Someone earlier spoke about these

         15  delivery people being on the lowest level of the pay

         16  scale of restaurant workers. That's correct.

         17  They're being paid minimum wage.  So they often

         18  can't afford to buy these helmets.  Council Member

         19  Gerson and Council Member Liu says the delivery is

         20  an extension of the workplace which is also correct

         21  and in the workplace, in a restaurant, you have

         22  slicing machines.  Slicing machines have protective

         23  guards so that you don't slice your fingers as

         24  you're slicing the meat.  So yes it is an extension

         25  of the workplace and it should be the obligation of
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          2  the restaurant owner to provide for his workers, his

          3  loyal workers.

          4                 I've heard it said that well how are

          5  you going to force them to wear it.  You can't force

          6  them to wear to it no more than you can force a

          7  policeman to wear a bullet proof vest, but the NYPD

          8  provides the bullet proof vest and the Commander

          9  says here's your bullet proof vest.  Now you can't

         10  force that policemen to wear that bullet proof vest

         11  if he doesn't want to wear that bullet proof vest,

         12  but the NYPD is clear in their mind that they

         13  provided the bullet proof vest.  The restaurant

         14  owner as an employer should be clear in his mind

         15  that he has done his best to provide an adequate

         16  safe environment for his workers.  Now it's said

         17  well what if he opens up the cabinet and says here's

         18  nine helmets.  I've provided them.  No one wants to

         19  use them.  Well that doesn't hold water.  If I own

         20  the restaurant and at one time I was a part- owner

         21  of a restaurant and at one time I was a deliveryman

         22  too, but if I tell my worker because I know the law,

         23  you're to deliver this food to East 38th Street and

         24  hurry on down.  Now if he doesn't put on a helmet,

         25  and I tell him look I'm providing you with a helmet.
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          2  Providing you means wear it.  The worker has no

          3  choice.  If he doesn't wear it, he will be out of a

          4  job.  The restaurant owner is going to say take this

          5  helmet and go deliver the food because the

          6  restaurant owner realizes that if his workers are

          7  not wearing a helmet, he is going to get a fine.

          8  How do you enforce it?  You have the  -- I mean the

          9  police are outside or whatever and they see people

         10  coming out of the restaurant without a helmet.

         11  Bingo. That's a violation.  Now if that delivery

         12  person wants to put the helmet on and go out the

         13  restaurant and go a couple of blocks and then take

         14  off the helmet well then that's no different than

         15  the policemen taking off the bullet proof vest

         16  because it's a hot day. But what are we trying to

         17  do?  We're trying to provide a safe environment for

         18  these workers.  Yes.  Many of them are undocumented

         19  but they are just trying to make an honest living.

         20  There are  -- Wow.  I am so happy we finally made

         21  here, John and Alan and so many other people have so

         22  many different ideas for enhancements.  Okay there

         23  are a lot of enhancements that we could do.

         24  Goodness gracious.  It's taken us three and a half

         25  years to get to here. Let's pass initiative 24 in
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          2  it's present form and let's talk about the

          3  enhancements later on because in it's present form,

          4  we are saying that the employer must provide helmet

          5  and safety gear for the employees.  Provide it means

          6  don't let your delivery man out the door without a

          7  helmet.  Now protective gear  --  all I wanted three

          8  and a half year ago was a helmet and reflective

          9  vests and reflective vests  --  25  years ago when I

         10  got the recommendation from the insurance company

         11  and passed it on to the restaurant and the

         12  restaurant told me it was too expensive, I said

         13  goodness gracious too expensive  --  reflective

         14  vests the kind that Con Ed wears and everyone else.

         15  I went to the bicycle store and the bicycle store

         16  had reflective strips about 24 inches wide with

         17  adhesive on one side.  All you do is take off the

         18  adhesive and the original intent of these reflective

         19  strips were to put it on the bicycle itself.  I said

         20  you could put it on any restaurant uniform jacket

         21  and it solves the purpose.  You've got a reflective

         22  vest and I used to give them away free to the

         23  restaurants.  I couldn't give away helmets.  Helmets

         24  in those days were probably around $40 dollars, $35

         25  dollars for a good helmet, but I am so happy to hear
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          2  people are giving away free helmets.  The cost of

          3  helmets now that meet minimum requirements are down

          4  between $20 and $25 dollars a helmet.

          5                 The enhancement put on headlights  --

          6    you know I don't want to get this thing bogged

          7  down because then we might have to wait another

          8  three and a half years.  Bells is (sic) not a

          9  problem.  Brakes certainly shouldn't be a problem.

         10  The headlights is (sic) a problem as practical as it

         11  is but when people deliver the food and they come

         12  back downstairs the headlight is gone.  It

         13  disappeared.  Someone stole the headlight.  That

         14  might prove a problem for some of the restaurant

         15  owners.

         16                 Let's take step one and step one is

         17  provide helmets. Make the restaurant owners provide

         18  them.  Let's get reflective vests and we could talk

         19  about the enhancements later on.  That's how I would

         20  see it right now.  Thank you.

         21                 CHAIRPERSON LIU: Thank you Mr. Louie.

         22    Ranjani  -- Why don't you guys decide amongst

         23  yourselves and then we'll hear from Mr. Chow.

         24                 MR. SIBY: My name is Sekou Siby.  I

         25  work at the Restaurant Opportunity Center.  ROC New
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          2  York has been created after September 11th and I

          3  was, myself, a restaurant worker at Windows on the

          4  World.  In 2001, we lost 73 of our co- workers.

          5  That's when we decided to create this organization

          6  that will be an advocacy entity to restaurant

          7  workers.  I, myself, come from West Africa.  The

          8  reason I am here today is to support the legislation

          9  that is before us today.

         10                 I have work in 2004 with Noah of TA.

         11  I did the outreach to restaurant owners, but the

         12  reality is I have been rejected many times with the

         13  fliers.  Restaurant owners don't see the necessity

         14  of taking those fliers from somebody they don't

         15  really know.  So I think for me it is a concern when

         16  entities like ROC New York go to restaurant owners

         17  and provide information that will help the workers

         18  but they don't see the necessity because they don't

         19  give much importance to those organizations.

         20                 Also we have conducted studies in

         21  2005 and the result is very clear.  Ninety percent

         22  of restaurant owners don't provide health insurance

         23  to their workers.  Eighty- four percent of those

         24  restaurant workers, for example, don't have sick

         25  days and these are concerns for us.  We think it is
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          2  really important considering the fact that U.S.

          3  Census data and diverse independent organizations

          4  have shown that two- thirds of the worker fatalities

          5  are in the immigrant community.  But at the same

          6  time they only represent 35 percent of the City

          7  workforce and we think that there is something that

          8  needs to be done.  My concern is giving only the

          9  helmet and the helmet to the restaurant owners will

         10  not be enough unless we provide a way to educate the

         11  workers on the use of the helmet and also of the

         12  health and safety issues.

         13                 We work a lot with NYCOSH and it is

         14  my belief that putting that aspect in the

         15  legislation will really help because workers  --

         16  when we conducted workshops with Noah we realized

         17  that they almost don't know anything about the law

         18  as it relates to bicycle riding in the City.  I

         19  think education is a very important part of that

         20  legislation.

         21                 MS. AAHIKANY: My name is Rajani

         22  Aahikany.  I'm a restaurant worker and the Policy

         23  Organizer for the Restaurant Opportunity Center of

         24  New York.  We are here today to echo this support

         25  for these two bills.  We think that they're, again,
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          2  a good first step.  What we hear from our members

          3   --  we have about 1,600 restaurant worker members

          4  and what we hear often times from the delivery

          5  workers who come to us after they're injured

          6  they're being told by their employer that they were

          7  just independent contractors and that they actually

          8  didn't even work for the business.  So provisions

          9  like in 58 that says that the worker will have to be

         10  signed with the business and there will be an actual

         11  log will be really helpful for workers to understand

         12  that they are part of the business and that they do

         13  have rights when they are injured. Again, this is a

         14  good first step in the sense that our industry needs

         15  lots of regulation.

         16                 I would agree with Council Member

         17  Brewer when you said that knowledge is power and so

         18  we have actually worked with the Mayor's office, the

         19  Small Business Solution Center, in working with

         20  restaurant on their legal obligations to their

         21  workers including everything from minimum wage to

         22  health and safety standards.  We'd be happy to

         23  provide more information about this type of

         24  legislation as well.  We have a restaurant boot camp

         25  that's called In the Lower Manhattan Small Business
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          2  Solution Center.  It's about a three hour training

          3  on all these legal obligations.  We'd be happy to

          4  include this as well.

          5                 I would have to echo some of Noah's

          6  concerns as well.  Please we really want to make

          7  sure that the burden, again, falls on the employer

          8  to really provide these helmets and make sure that

          9  their workers are using them.  We are a little

         10  nervous about the NYPD stopping delivery workers.

         11  As it is so many restaurant workers are new

         12  immigrants who are fearful of the police and talking

         13  to the police even when they themselves are

         14  brutalized.  So we recommend that enforcement on

         15  these issues really stop and start with the

         16  employers.

         17                 Council Member Lappin isn't here

         18  anymore but I think her comments on enforcement on

         19  this issue really being a State issue is really well

         20  noted.  I think that we should all encourage our

         21  State Representatives to really get on board with

         22  these issues with the New York City Council and all

         23  of us here.  I do want to, again, point out that the

         24  New York City Department of Health and Mental

         25  Hygiene has a lot of power in the restaurant

                                                            73

          1  COMMITTEE ON TRANSPORTATION

          2  industry and making sure that there are certain

          3  signs posted.  They are the ones that actually make

          4  sure that that's being posted.  I just want to make

          5  sure that folks know that that is a possible other

          6  avenue.

          7                 CHAIRPERSON LIU: Thank you very much

          8  and thank you for joining us also today.  Mr. Chow,

          9  please pull up a mic and proceed.

         10                 MR. CHOW:  My name is Yan. My last

         11  name is Chow. I'm a restaurant owner.  It's my first

         12  time here.

         13                 CHAIRPERSON LIU: Welcome and we

         14  always love to have first- time people coming here.

         15  In fact, at every hearing most of the people

         16  testifying are first- time.  So you are in a good

         17  position.

         18                 MR. CHOW: All right.  I try but you

         19  know.

         20                 I think that safety always comes

         21  first.  We all believe that.  You know what I mean?

         22  I have no problem to do everything possible to make

         23  my employees safety (sic).  So I discovered them

         24  everyday.  I say what's the best way we can do it,

         25  let's say for safety, for their own good.  So I tell
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          2  them don't go to the sidewalk to ride bicycle,

          3  follow the traffic rules, don't go against the

          4  traffic.  So we always talk in the restaurant.  So

          5  when I'm talking the pull me on the street and show

          6  it to me.  See how everybody working like this,

          7  everybody goes on the sidewalk, and they go against

          8  the traffic.  They tell me what's this.  I say don't

          9  worry about people.  Worry about yourself.  This is

         10  safe right?  They just laugh.  You know what I mean?

         11    It's very hard to teach them.  I buy the vests a

         12  long time ago.  I mean I would say I even attempt to

         13  go buy a helmet but I can't buy everybody a helmet.

         14  I don't know which size they are wearing.  So why

         15  don't you go buy a helmet.  I will reimburse the

         16  money for you people. They say okay.  I'll go.  I'll

         17  buy it and they keep this and later on I buy the

         18  vest about two or three years ago.  I'd say about

         19  ten vests for them to wear it.  The wear it for one

         20  or two weeks and they feel funny.  You know there's

         21  a lot of people in delivery. They are the only one

         22  wearing it and they feel funny and they argue with

         23  me.  They say why do I have to wear it?  Nobody

         24  wears it.  I say don't worry about people just worry

         25  about yourself  So you have to force them to do it.
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          2  You know what I mean?  That's the whole idea.  So I

          3  100 percent agree.  Safety ought to come first. This

          4  sounds concerning and I 100 percent agree with what

          5  the people are saying today.  We should do

          6  everything to protect the employee. That's part of

          7  the family too, I believe.  I am very concerned for

          8  them.  They understand what I'm doing but sometimes

          9  they say no. They just try to sneak away.

         10                 CHAIRPERSON LIU: Well thank you very

         11  much, Mr. Chow, for coming today.  I think your

         12  input is extremely valuable to us and we applaud

         13  you.  I think you're a model employer that should be

         14  looked at by all the other businesses in New York

         15  City.  Thank you.

         16                 I have a question for Mr. Louie and I

         17  think we have questions from my colleagues also.  So

         18  Mr. Louie I thought your testimony was very

         19  informative and I think the point that I wanted to

         20  ask you most about was the insurance aspect.  Is

         21  there a suggestion that having this kind of

         22  requirement and having the employers abide by this

         23  kind of requirement may actually help to decrease

         24  insurance premiums?  Could there be that kind of

         25  impact?
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          2                 MR. LOUIE: Well, first of all, it's

          3  covered. Bicycle injuries are covered under Workers

          4  Compensation.  Now as earlier testimony came, many

          5  of the bicycle people that do get hurt sometimes are

          6  asked not to report the Workers Comp injury or some

          7  of them because they don't have proper documentation

          8    --

          9                 CHAIRPERSON LIU: And the reason would

         10  be because the Workers Comp premiums would increase.

         11    Is that  --

         12                 MR. LOUIE: Well the Workers Comp

         13  premium is based upon the restaurant industry.  The

         14  Workers Comp Board looks at all the claims that

         15  happen within the Workers Comp industry and then

         16  they decide well we have that many claims, we have

         17  to charge this much of a rate and that rate is

         18  state-wide.  Yes, if the restaurant did provide

         19  helmets, they would have fewer claims.  If they had

         20  fewer claims, yes, their insurance costs would go

         21  down, but the insurance law as it's now written

         22  cannot mandate that they provide helmets.  But as a

         23  matter of educating the restaurant owners or the

         24  messenger industry, the fewer claims you have, the

         25  lower your insurance premium is going to be.  Going
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          2  back to Mr. Yan's comment, yes I applaud Mr. Yan's

          3  effort and I understand where his workers are coming

          4  from.  When no one else is wearing it, why do I have

          5  to wear it?  That only enforces the need to pass a

          6  law.  Then Mr. Yan can say well I'm sorry.  It's the

          7  law like it's the law you can't smoke in the

          8  kitchen.  That was the original law.  You couldn't

          9  smoke in the kitchen.  You had to go outside.  Now

         10  you can't smoke in the restaurant  --  It used to be

         11  you couldn't smoke in restaurants except in

         12  designated areas.  Now you can't smoke in the

         13  restaurant at all.  Well everybody complies because

         14  it's the law. It's simply the law.  So that would

         15  help Mr. Yan if we could pass the law immediately

         16  and say look you have to wear helmets, you got to

         17  have protective gear and you have provide for it.

         18  Then he would be able to go back and tell his

         19  workers this is what you have to do.

         20                 CHAIRPERSON LIU: Great.  Thank you

         21  very much Mr. Louie.  Council Member Gerson.

         22                 COUNCIL MEMBER GERSON: Thank you very

         23  much Mr. Chair.  Just a very, very brief statement.

         24  First of all, I was waiting for Mr. Louie's

         25  testimony to pay to him the tribute he deserves.
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          2  Your dedication to the cause of safety of these very

          3  important people to our societies functioning and

          4  who are part of our daily lives but to often

          5  overlooked, but not by you.  Your wisdom in coming

          6  up with practical suggestions to make this happen

          7  really has brought about this hearing and we expect

          8  to see you at the bill signing ceremony when this is

          9  actually enacted into law. So it was a pleasure

         10  working with you on this, as we work together on so

         11  many issues affecting our community, and we'll

         12  continue to do so as we have so much more to do.

         13  Just as your testimony showed, when you said bingo,

         14  it could be enforced.  You just look.  You see

         15  people come out of the restaurants.  You know what's

         16  happening. Your practical insight has been

         17  extraordinarily beneficial to us. I want to thank

         18  you.  I want to thank ROC.  I am honored to

         19  represent the host district for your headquarters

         20  and for your start- up model enterprise and you do

         21  great, great work and I know we have a meeting

         22  upcoming and I look forward to working with you on

         23  the other problem areas that you have outlined.  And

         24  Mr. Chow, thank you for your commitment, for being

         25  here.  This is your Hall. This is your City Hall.
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          2  So even though it's your first time and you show us

          3  that we are fortunate in this City to have business

          4  entrepreneurs who are concerned.  So thank you very

          5  much.  Thank you all.

          6                 CHAIRPERSON LIU: Thank you, Council

          7  Member Gerson.  And Council Member Brewer.

          8                 COUNCIL MEMBER BREWER:  I also want

          9  to thank Mr. Louie because every time I see you,

         10  you've brought this to my attention.  So

         11  congratulations.  And Mr. Yan I want to say, first

         12  of all, for those of you who don't know, he has a

         13  wonderful restaurant on 88th and Columbus right next

         14  door to our storefront.  It's very popular.  The

         15  whole neighborhood and many commissioners from the

         16  City of New York go there. I also want to ask you,

         17  though, if, in fact, as was suggested by Mr. Louie,

         18  there was a definite law that everybody had to do

         19  the same do you think that your workers would be

         20  more comfortable in participating in those safety

         21  measures.

         22                 MR. CHOW: Definitely.

         23                 COUNCIL MEMBER BREWER: Okay. Thank

         24  you very much.

         25                 CHAIRPERSON LIU: Thank you Council

                                                            80

          1  COMMITTEE ON TRANSPORTATION

          2  Member Brewer. I want to thank the panel for

          3  participating in today's hearing and for the insight

          4  that you've provided this Committee with.  Thank

          5  you.  Let me note, for the record, that we've also

          6  received written testimony from Dr. David

          7  Goldschmitt, the former Chief of Emergency at New

          8  York Downtown Hospital.  His written testimony is in

          9  favor of these bicycle safety enhancements.

         10

         11  WRITTEN TESTIMONY OF:

         12  DR. DAVID GOLDSCHMITT

         13  NEW YORK DOWNTOWN HOSPITAL

         14

         15                 Though much evidence exists on the

         16  tremendously increased risk of death or serious

         17  brain injury for cyclists not wearing helmets

         18  involved in a motor vehicle accident, there is

         19  little documentation of the exaggerated effect that

         20  urban crowding and the presence of bicycle

         21  messengers and delivery personnel have in increasing

         22  the general risk of accidents to bicyclists.  In

         23  fact, commercial bicyclists take a

         24  disproportionately high percentage of the serious

         25  head injury cases.
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          2                 Lower Manhattan is a case in point.

          3  While New York is a crowded city and our emergency

          4  rooms are rife with those injured due to bicycle

          5  accidents, both injured cyclists and those who are

          6  struck by wayward bicycles, Lower Manhattan is a

          7  prime example of an area that is particularly prone

          8  to bicycling accidents.  With the narrow streets and

          9  pedestrian and vehicular congestion, the number of

         10  cyclists injured is disproportionately high compared

         11  to the average population.  This anecdotal

         12  assessment, gleaned from the Emergency Department

         13  visits at NY Downtown Hospital in Lower Manhattan,

         14  points to a relative high probability of any

         15  particular cyclist being struck while riding. Thus,

         16  the increased risk of dying or suffering brain

         17  injury for the cyclists without helmets is further

         18  elevated beyond the average population.

         19                 In addition, there is a unique urban

         20  phenomenon which is augmented in a narrow lane road

         21  system such as Lower Manhattan: The stationary

         22  bicycle collision.  This incident is when a bicycle

         23  is topped at a corner, and a car makes a turn in

         24  front of it striking the cycle and knocking the

         25  cyclist over into a telephone pole, sign post,
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          2  mailbox or garbage can, causing significant head

          3  trauma.

          4                 If we consider the bicycle and rider

          5  as a vertical line with the fulcrum at the bottom of

          6  the tires, the head of the cyclist is furthest from

          7  the fulcrum of the street.  In physics, the force

          8  exerted on the object at the furthest point from the

          9  fulcrum is exponentially stronger.  Thus, when the

         10  bicycle is knocked over, the head travels in a long,

         11  unprotected and strong arc to the sidewalk, striking

         12  it with tremendous force and almost assuring serious

         13  injury.  And, unlike the lower body, is totally

         14  unprotected by the frame and handlebars.

         15                 The cyclist is not the only person at

         16  risk; there are a tremendous number of pedestrians

         17  struck by bicycles in Lower Manhattan, partly due to

         18  the use of the sidewalks by bicycle messengers and

         19  delivery personnel.  The risk of serious injury in

         20  an urban setting is often as high for a pedestrian

         21  struck by a bicycle injury as one struck by a motor

         22  vehicle because, though the size and mass of the

         23  bicycle is far less than a car, the point of contact

         24  is so narrow as to channel all of the force into one

         25  small spot, magnifying the injury potential.  Also,
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          2  the speed of the bicycle collisions is usually far

          3  greater than the automobile crashes, as there is

          4  little room for the cars to pick up speed on the

          5  congested streets, while the bicycles traverse the

          6  sidewalks at a much swifter pace.  Remember, that a

          7  pedestrian has absolutely no padding to protect from

          8  an injury when struck, so the wounds are subsequent

          9  injury are often significant.  Therefore, it is

         10  essential to educate commercial cyclists that they

         11  must obey traffic regulations in order to protect

         12  themselves and the public.

         13                 I hope these comments are helpful in

         14  illustrating the need for the bicycle safety

         15  measures being investigated by this committee.

         16  Beyond the human condition issues of such accidents,

         17  the loss of productivity and cost of care can be

         18  staggering for traumatic brain injury.  These costs

         19  are almost always borne by the public, since

         20  commercial bicyclists are rarely insured.  The

         21  measures should be seriously considered.  If you

         22  have specific questions, or wish further

         23  clarification, please feel free to contact me.

         24  Thank you for your kind consideration.

         25                 CHAIRPERSON LIU: At this time, there
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          2  being no further witnesses at this hearing, this

          3  hearing of the City Council's Committee on

          4  Transportation is adjourned.

          5                 (Hearing concluded at 11:50 a.m.)
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